# MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change



Analysis of Strategies of Companies under Carbon Constraint: *Relationship Between Profit Structure of Companies and Carbon/Fuel Price Uncertainty* 

Susumu Hashimoto

Report No. 105 January 2004 The MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change is an organization for research, independent policy analysis, and public education in global environmental change. It seeks to provide leadership in understanding scientific, economic, and ecological aspects of this difficult issue, and combining them into policy assessments that serve the needs of ongoing national and international discussions. To this end, the Program brings together an interdisciplinary group from two established research centers at MIT: the Center for Global Change Science (CGCS) and the Center for Energy and Environmental Policy Research (CEEPR). These two centers bridge many key areas of the needed intellectual work, and additional essential areas are covered by other MIT departments, by collaboration with the Ecosystems Center of the Marine Biology Laboratory (MBL) at Woods Hole, and by short- and long-term visitors to the Program. The Program involves sponsorship and active participation by industry, government, and non-profit organizations.

To inform processes of policy development and implementation, climate change research needs to focus on improving the prediction of those variables that are most relevant to economic, social, and environmental effects. In turn, the greenhouse gas and atmospheric aerosol assumptions underlying climate analysis need to be related to the economic, technological, and political forces that drive emissions, and to the results of international agreements and mitigation. Further, assessments of possible societal and ecosystem impacts, and analysis of mitigation strategies, need to be based on realistic evaluation of the uncertainties of climate science.

This report is one of a series intended to communicate research results and improve public understanding of climate issues, thereby contributing to informed debate about the climate issue, the uncertainties, and the economic and social implications of policy alternatives. Titles in the Report Series to date are listed on the inside back cover.

Henry D. Jacoby and Ronald G. Prinn, *Program Co-Directors* 

Postal Address:Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change<br/>77 Massachusetts Avenue<br/>MIT E40-428<br/>Cambridge MA 02139-4307 (USA)Location:One Amherst Street, Cambridge<br/>Building E40, Room 428<br/>Massachusetts Institute of TechnologyAccess:Phone: (617) 253-7492<br/>Fax: (617) 253-9845<br/>E-mail: globalchange@mit.edu<br/>Web site: http://MIT.EDU/globalchange/

For more information, please contact the Joint Program Office



## Analysis of Strategies of Companies under Carbon Constraint: Relationship Between Profit Structure of Companies and Carbon/Fuel Price Uncertainty

Susumu Hashimoto\*

#### Abstract

This paper examines the relationship between future carbon prices and the expected profit of companies by case studies with model companies. As the future carbon price will vary significantly in accordance with the political and economic situation, a specified probability density profile for the carbon price in the future has been assumed in this paper and the expected profits of the model company have been calculated on the basis of this profile. A power company has been selected as the model company representing a typical instance of a large-scale emitter of  $CO_2$ . In the case of a single-fuel using company, it has been established that the influence on corporate profits can be assessed quantitatively by determining the profit break-even line with the carbon price as the parameter using the company's carbon emission intensity and its operating profit per unit of production output. For multi-fueled companies, it is shown that the future optimum fuel mix is determined not only by the carbon price but also by the operating profit ratio for the fuels concerned. These studies have thus confirmed that corporate profits are governed by the ratio of the operating profit levels achieved per unit of production output for the different fuels and the carbon price.

#### Contents

1. Introduction	
2. Model Company Analysis	
2.1 Outline of the Model Company	
2.2 Assumption of the Future Carbon Price	
2.3 Expected Profit for the Model Company	
2.3.1 Auction case	
2.3.2 Grandfathering case	5
2.4 Asset Adjustment	7
2.4.1 Conversion from coal to gas	7
2.4.2 Influence of natural gas price	
2.4.3 Operating profit in case of natural gas power plant	
3. General Approach	
3.1 Case of a Uni-fueled Company	
3.2 Case of Multi-fueled Company	
4. Conclusions	
5. References	

## **1. INTRODUCTION**

There seems to be no doubt that we will face carbon constraints in the near future though it is not clear whether the Kyoto Protocol will be in effect or not at this moment. The problem is that we are not certain when and how these carbon constraints will come into effect and what impact they will have. Those companies that emit tons of  $CO_2$  at present, such as companies in the energy intensive industries, would be affected very badly.

<sup>\*</sup> Hashimoto is employed by the Electric Power Development Co., Ltd. (J-Power) and he was a visiting researcher at the Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change when this paper was written.

In this paper, we have singled out a power company as a typical large-scale emitter of  $CO_2$  and taken it as a model case for examining the impact of future carbon constraints in a quantitative manner in terms of the corporate profit structure and the future carbon price. Moreover, one of the options available to companies under such carbon constraints would be to switch fuels (for example, from coal to gas), and we have examined this possibility to establish the pluses and minuses of fuel switch with regard to price and operating profit of both fuels (Section 2).

In Section 3, the profit structure of the model company is generalized, and examined again to see how the profit structure in the carbon constraint world would affect corporate profit. First, we have examined the expected profit for a uni-fueled firm in relation to the carbon price. The profit break-even line for the predicted carbon price is shown for such companies. Second, we have examined the profit structure of multi-fueled companies to determine the optimum coal and gas fuel mix by considering the carbon price and the relative price difference between these fuels.

In the conclusive part, we have noted that there is a possibility that the benefits of switching fuels might be lost when the operating profit for gas as a fuel with lower carbon emissions is less than a certain critical level applicable to the use of coal as a fuel with higher carbon emissions. It is therefore necessary to accept a trade-off between the carbon price and the fuel price when resorting to fuel switching as a means of reducing emissions.

## 2. MODEL COMPANY ANALYSIS

## 2.1 Outline of the Model Company

The model company used for this study is a power-generating company that owns coal-fired power plants. As coal-fired power plants emit more  $CO_2$  than other plants, the effects can be seen more clearly.

The model company owns plants with a total of eight 1,000 MW capacity coal-fired power generation units operated at over 60% of their capacity. The plant units are assumed to be a mixture ranging from old to state-of-the-art systems with different levels of combustion efficiency. We have taken the average emission rate of the 8 units as being 0.22 t-C/MWh.

**Table 1** is a summary of features of the model company for the reference year, which will be the base data for our later calculations.

<b>Operational/Financial Features</b>	Figures
Power generation	44,500,000 MWh/yr
CO <sub>2</sub> emissions	9.8 Mt-C/yr
Operating revenue	2,800 M\$/yr
Operating profit ratio	20 %

## Table 1. Features of the Model Company

In the following subsection, we will calculate the profit the model company can reasonably expect in the future (in this paper, after 5 years) using above data.

#### 2.2 Assumption of the Future Carbon Price

At present, we have no way of knowing what regulations might be implemented after 5 years. Even when we assume the model company is in a country that has ratified the Kyoto Protocol, we cannot be certain that the Protocol will actually have come into effect within the next 5 years.

Moreover, even if we assume that the Kyoto Protocol will have come into effect over the next 5 years, we would have no way of knowing what regulatory measures the government of that country might institute. The model company might have a cap imposed on its  $CO_2$  emissions and/or be subject to a severe carbon tax. Alternatively it is also conceivable that noregulations might be passed for certain political or economic reasons.

In view of this uncertainty as to the future political and/or economic situation, we have supposed in this paper that the carbon price is distributed according to a certain probability density profile that takes into account all possible political and economic factors.

**Figure 1** shows an example of a  $\Gamma$  profile for the probability density function with a peak price at \$25 which is expressed by following equation with q = 2 and  $\sigma = 25$ .

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(q)\sigma^q} x^{q-1} e^{-\frac{1}{\sigma}x}$$

Although we can assume various profiles for the probability density function, this  $\Gamma$  profile is used in this paper as an expedient example. It is, evidently, not necessary to limit ourselves to this  $\Gamma$  profile.



Figure 1. Probability Density of Carbon Price ( $\Gamma$  profile peak price at \$25)

### 2.3 Expected Profit for the Model Company

We have made the following assumptions in order to simplify our analysis in this section:

- -The model company has relatively long-term contracts with its customers (buyers) and can reasonably expect that its electricity price will remain fixed over a period of 5 years.
- -The model company can reasonably expect that the level of its power sales will remain the same by virtue of its long-term supply contracts. (This means that this company can reasonably expect that without carbon constraints its profits will remain the same as the reference year.)

What amount of profit can this model company expect when the predicted carbon price probability shown in Figure 1 comes into play? (To simplify matters, we will assume in our calculations below that the inflation rate and the discount rate will not change during this 5-year period.)

## 2.3.1 Auction case

In this subsection, we will examine the expected profits of the model company on the assumption that cap & trade approach will be applied as the regulatory measure by the government. As a result, companies that emit  $CO_2$  will be required to obtain  $CO_2$  emission permits through auction procedures to acquire emission rights covering the full amount of their  $CO_2$  emissions.

Although it is likely that the model company may negotiate with its customer (buyers) on a possible increase in power tariff in order to pass some portion of their excess cost of purchasing the permits on to the power price, we will assume in this paper that the model company will bear 100% of its costs for obtaining the emission permits. In this way we can study the worst scenario case. Also, the effect on corporate profits of the different means of distributing allowances is more clearly shown.

The expected profit of the company can be expressed by the following equation.

$$EP = a \times p - ER \times p \times \int_{0}^{\infty} CP(x) * f(x)dx$$
<sup>(1)</sup>

*EP*: expected profit of the company (\$)

*a*: profit per unit power generation output (\$/MWh)

*p*: power generation output (MWh)

*ER*: CO<sub>2</sub> emissions per unit power generation output (t-C/MWh)

CP(x): carbon price in relation to the probability density variable x (\$/t-C)

f(x): probability density function.

Let us substitute the values a = 12.6 (\$/MWh), p = 44,500,000 (MWh), ER = 0.22 (t-C/MWh) for the model company in the above equation and take the carbon price as being zero. It can be seen that the model company can reasonably expect a profit of EP = 560M\$, which is as same as in the reference year.

Let us now examine the level of profit the model company can expect after 5 years, if we predict the carbon price probability profile shown in Figure 1, that is, the  $\Gamma$  profile with a peak price of \$25. The profit probability density function of this case is shown in **Figure 2**.

As Figure 2 shows the profit PDF(probability density function) of the model company, for example, we can see the probability of \$560 million of profit for this company is zero. It is because the probability of a zero carbon price is zero in Figure 1. The modal, most-likely, or peak profit is \$316 million that is corresponding to the peak price of \$25. The expected value for future profit of this company is approximately 70M\$ according to the calculation.

The 70M\$ expected profit level is much lower than the 560M\$ profit of the reference year with carbon price = 0. This means, 5 years later, the model company would face the difficult situation of nearly a 90% fall in expected profit and of a significant probability of a loss.

## 2.3.2 Grandfathering case

In the former case, we have assumed that companies are required to purchase carbon emissions permits covering their entire emissions and bear the full costs involved in the acquisition of these permits. In view of the critical effect of this policy on company profitability, however, a grandfathering approach might possibly be adopted in certain instances as the substantial decline in the profit levels of carbon-intensive companies could be seen as a social problem.

In view of the above, let us assume that the government decides to grant these carbonintensive companies  $CO_2$  emission permits as a result of political bargaining. Let us therefore assume that an amount corresponding to 95% of the 1990 emissions is allocated to the companies after due political bargaining among the stakeholders.



Figure 2. Profit PDF (peak price \$25) EP = 70M\$

If, for example, the model company emitted 6.8 Mt-C of  $CO_2$  in 1990, it will thus qualify for emission permits worth approximately 6.5 Mt-C (= 6.8 Mt-C \* 95%). In this case, the question is how much profit the model company can reasonably expect 5 years later with the carbon price predicted to be as shown in Figure 1. (This is the  $\Gamma$  profile with a peak price of \$25.)

For this grandfathering case, a slight modification is needed in equation (1) as shown below.

$$EP = a \times p - (ER \times p - GF) \times \int_{0}^{\infty} CP(x) * f(x)dx$$
<sup>(2)</sup>

where GF = grandfathered permits (t-C).

Calculation according to the above equation gives us an expected value of 400M\$ for the model company's profit after 5 years in the grandfathering case (Profit PDF is shown as square symbols in **Figure 3**). Moreover, the probability of a loss has been reduced to a negligible 1%. The company can expect greater profits in the grandfathering rather than the auction case. Yet, even in the grandfathering case, the company must still be prepared to accommodate a roughly 30% fall in its profit.

Let's take a look at the following calculation based on a higher carbon price. Here we assume that the carbon price is raised significantly due to certain political and economic factors. When using the  $\Gamma$  profile with the peak price of \$75 as the probability profile of the carbon price, the expected value for the model company's profit is approximately 70M\$ (Profit PDF is shown as triangle symbols in Figure 3). This entails a 80% drop from the \$25 peak case and a 90% drop from the reference year profit.



Figure 3. Profit PDF (Auction vs. GF, peak \$25 vs. \$75)

On the other hand, if the model company reduces its output to 66%, a level of output equivalent to the 6.5 Mt-C of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions corresponding to the grandfathered permits, the expected value of the company's profit will rise to approximately 380M\$ (Profit PDF is shown as circle symbols in Figure 3). This suggests that, when the carbon price is expected to be high, it would be wise to operate plant at an output level not requiring any extra CO<sub>2</sub> emission permits rather than to run the plants at full capacity in order to maximize profits.

We can also note a similar trend in the auction case. **Figure 4** shows that when the carbon price is high the extent of profit decline can be limited by reducing the output level in the auction case. Although profits are down in both the full-capacity operation case and the reduced capacity (66% availability) operation, plant operation at reduced capacity is more favorable.

Figure 4 also indicates that, if we expect grandfathering measures to be effective 5 years later, the model company would be better off operating its plants at 100% availability until the predicted peak carbon price is about \$30. Yet it would be wise for this company to throttle output if a higher carbon price peak profile of \$30 or above seems likely. In the auction case, the same strategy might be adopted although expected profits would turn negative after the predicted peak carbon price has risen beyond the \$30 level.

## 2.4 Asset Adjustment

#### 2.4.1 Conversion from coal to gas

When the profit mechanism described in the previous section can be anticipated, companies may respond by adopting some other strategy to cope with the situation. For example, companies might resort to asset adjustment, such as the conversion of its plants from coal to gas fuel.

To make the story simple, we will assume that the model company is able to convert all of its coal-fired power plants to natural gas while retaining the same output level of 44,500,000 MWh/yr



**Figure 4**. (a) Expected Profit for Model Company by Predicted Peak Carbon Price, (b) Carbon Price Probability Profile



through the 5 year period. We will assume, furthermore, that profit per unit power output remains the same as before (12.6 MWh) and the only factor that changes is the CO<sub>2</sub> emission level which will be down to only 60% (= 0.13 t-C/MWh) as compared with the coal-fired model power plants (= 0.22 t-C/MWh).

We can calculate the expected profit for these natural gas plants by using the various predicted carbon price levels anticipated for the future (see **Figure 5**).

The square symbols in Figure 5 refer to the model company's natural gas plants. If grandfathering measures are provided, the model company can expect a profit in excess of 560M\$, which is the profit level applicable in the event that no restrictions on carbon emissions are imposed. Given an equal level of profit for coal and gas-fired generation, profit will increase as the higher carbon price imparts more value to the "surplus" grandfathered allowances for a gas plant.

Even in the auction case, the model company can expect positive profits for gas conversion until the expected carbon price reaches 100 (= peak price 50). Still, the company must be prepared for a considerable fall in profits from the reference case of 560M.

## 2.4.2 Influence of natural gas price

We must note that the conclusion reached in Section 2.4.1 holds true only on the assumption that the price of natural gas will be the same after 5 years. However, it is reasonable to expect some price increase for natural gas as the carbon constraint intensifies. The carbon constraint pushes up the demand for, and with it also the price of, clean energy. The influence caused by a price increase for natural gas will be examined in a little more detail in this section.

More detailed structure of generation cost can be expressed by the next equation,

$$I = \frac{C\gamma}{8760L} + \frac{860f}{\eta}$$

where *I*: Generation Cost (\$/MWh)

- *C*: Construction Cost (\$/MW)
- $\gamma$ : Annual capital charge rate (interest depreciation and O&M) (%)
- *L*: Capacity factor (%)
- *f*: Fuel price per unit of heat  $(\$/10^3$ kcal)
- $\eta$ : heat efficiency (%)
- 860: inverse factor for converting kilocalories into megawatt-hours assuming no heat loss  $(10^3 \text{ kcal} = 4.184*10^6 \text{ J} = 1.162*10^{-3} \text{ MWh})$

For the present, for example, the coal price is assumed as being 0.75 yen/10<sup>3</sup> kcal and the LNG (liquefied natural gas) price as being 2.25 yen/10<sup>3</sup> kcal (see **Figure 6**). Now, let us consider what the operating profit of the model company would be if the price of LNG were to increase to 150% and the price of coal would remain unchanged. The parameters *C*,  $\gamma$ ,  $\eta$  shall have the values given in **Table 2** and *L* (plant availability) is taken as 70%.



Figure 6. Energy Price (CF Price at Japan)

Table 2. Generation Cost Input Data (by Ellerman & Tsukada [1])

Code	Unit	Oil	Coal	LNG
С	yen/kW	206,000	304,000	214,000
	\$/MW	1,717,000	2,533,000	1,783,000
γ	%	13.27	13.30	14.23
f	yen/10 <sup>3</sup> kcal	1.607307	0.899545	1.795355
	\$/10 <sup>3</sup> kcal	0.01339	0.007496	0.01496
	\$/mmBtu	3.38	1.89	3.77
η	%	39.98	39.10	40.00

Note: yen converted to dollars with exchange rate 120 yen/\$

Cost \$ Margin	unit	Coal	LNG	LNG (f = 150%)
fuel price (f)	yen/10 <sup>3</sup> kcal	0.75	2.25	3.375
	\$/10 <sup>3</sup> kcal	0.00625	0.01875	0.028125
	\$/mmBtu	1.58	4.73	7.09
Capital + O&M cost	\$/MWh	55	41	41
Fuel cost	\$/MWh	14	40	61
Operating profit <sup>a</sup>	\$/MWh	<b>17</b> <sup>a</sup>	<b>17</b> <sup>b</sup>	-4 <sup>c</sup>
Selling price	\$/MWh	86	98	98

Table 3. Operating Profit with LNG 50% Price Increase

Notes: a) set as 20% of selling price; b) set same margin as coal plant; c) balance of keeping the selling price as 98 \$/MWh

The calculation results are shown in **Table 3**. The model company would lose its entire operating profit if it maintained its selling price for power at the same as before the natural gas 50% price rise, namely at 98 \$/MWh. Note that as of June 2003, the price of natural gas in North America has risen to 6 \$/mmBtu, so our assumed price of  $3.375 \text{ yen}/10^3 \text{ kcal}$  (= 7.1 \$/mmBtu) does not seem unrealistic in the light of this trend.

For the near future, it is most realistic to anticipate higher natural gas prices as the impact of carbon constraint comes into its own. This calls for a great measure of caution in any attempt to convert power plants from coal to gas fuel in an attempt to trade off the rising carbon price against the benefits of gas due to lower emissions.

## 2.4.3 Operating profit in case of natural gas power plant

For fuel conversion from coal to natural gas, it is necessary to realize that, in general, natural gas power plants are less favorable than their coal-fired counterparts in terms of profitability per unit output. Although in the previous discussion, it has been assumed for simplicity's sake that the operating profit per unit power output from natural gas remains the same as that from coal, the operating profit with natural gas is significantly lower as shown in **Table 4** in the event that the selling price of power generated with natural gas has to be kept the same as the coal-generated power price. This may apply, for example, in the case of a liberalized power market.

Cost & Profit	unit	Coal	LNG
fuel price (f)	yen/10 <sup>3</sup> kcal	0.75	2.25
• • • •	\$/10 <sup>3</sup> kcal	0.00625	0.01875
	\$/mmBtu	1.58	4.76
Capital + O&M cost	\$/MWh	55	41
Fuel cost	\$/MWh	14	40
Operating profit <sup>a</sup>	\$/MWh	17 <sup>a</sup>	5 <sup>b</sup>
Selling price	\$/MWh	86	86

Table 4. Operating Profit of Coal and LNG

Notes: a) set as 20% of selling price; b) balance of keeping the selling price same as coal



Using the operating profits in Table 4, the relationship between the future carbon price and the expected profit of the company can be expressed as shown in **Figure 7**. The advantage of gas is totally lost if the gas/coal operating profit ratio is approximately 30%. This suggests that the operating profit for a gas-fired power plant is as important a factor for any decision to convert the power plant from coal to gas as the possibility of future price increases for natural gas.

## **3. GENERAL APPROACH**

## 3.1 Case of a Uni-fueled Company

A more generalized approach can be applied to the profit structure of companies. The expected profit EP for companies that use only one fuel (uni-fueled company) for production can be expressed using the equation below. This is equation (2) already introduced in Section 2.3.2.

$$EP = a \times p - (ER \times p - GF) \times \int_{0}^{\infty} CP(x) * f(x) dx$$

*EP*: expected profit of the company (\$) *a*: profit per unit output (\$/unit) *p*: output (unit) *ER*: CO<sub>2</sub> emissions per unit output (t-C/unit) *GF*: grandfathered permits (t-C) *CP*(*x*): carbon price in relation to the probability density variable *x* (\$/t-C) *f*(*x*): probability density function

Expressing *GF* as  $GF = b^*ER^*p$  (*b*: ratio of grandfathered permits and emissions at 100% production) gives:

$$EP = a * p - (1 - b) * p * ER * ACP$$
(3)

ACP: average or expected price of carbon

 $ACP = q^*\sigma$  when probability density function  $\Gamma$  profile can be expressed by:

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(q)\sigma^q} x^{q-1} e^{-\frac{1}{\sigma^r}}$$

From equation (3), the expected profit, *EP*, of the model company will fall as the expected carbon price increases according to the line with the slope -(1-b)\*p\*ER and intercept a\*p. **Figure 8** shows this relationship for the grandfathering, auction, and reduced production cases. **Table 5** presents the unit price of power generation for LNG-, oil- and coal-fired plants calculated by METI (Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry in Japan) using model plants [2] and the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions per unit power generation output for LNG-, oil- and coal-fired plants calculated by CRIEPI (Central Research Institute of Electric Power Industry) [3]. These power generation outputs (LNG, Oil, Coal) are plotted on the *ER-a* plane in **Figure 9** on the assumption that each plant has a 20%<sup>1</sup> operating profit and that permits are auctioned.





Table 5. Unit Price	and Emissions per	Generation by Fuels

Fuel	Unit price per generation calculated based on asset life	CO <sub>2</sub> emissions per generation (generation only)	<i>ER</i> : CO <sub>2</sub> emissions per power generation (t-C/MWh)	<i>a</i> : profit per power generation (\$/MWh) operating profit = 20%
LNG	around 10 yen/kWh	478 g-CO <sub>2</sub> /kWh	0.13	16.7
Oil	around 9 yen/kWh	704 g-CO₂/kWh	0.19	15.0
Coal	around 10 yen/kWh	887 g-CO <sub>2</sub> /kWh	0.24	16.7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 20% is not the real operating profit for each fuel. This figure is used only for simplifying the discussion here. It is known that operating profit for coal is greater than that for LNG in Japan.



Figure 9. Profit Break-Even Line

If the average carbon price is predicted at \$50 (peak price = \$25), for example, a profit for each of these plants can be expected since each plot is above the line indicating the emission rate and pre-carbon-tax profit level that separate positive from negative profits when ACP = \$50. However, if the average carbon price increases to \$100, coal and oil fired plants will be below the break-even line of ACP = \$100 so that these two plants cannot be operated profitably on the assumption that they started out with a 20% operating profit.

We must note that, however, even if the plot is above the break-even line, this only signifies that the profit is not zero and that the companies concerned must be prepared for significant losses as compared with the no carbon constraint case. We have seen this in the case of our model company.

## 3.2 Case of Multi-fueled Company

Although companies might be able to reduce the carbon emissions per unit output associated with coal-fired power plants by fuel conversion from coal to gas, as seen in Sections 2.4.2 and 2.4.3, the profit achieved by fueling the power plants with gas can be easily diminished as a result of an increase in gas price and/or a squeeze of the operating profit of the plants. While the coal-fired and gas-fired plants have each their particular advantages, such as a relatively stable coal price for the former, and low carbon emissions for the latter, companies may have to consider the best mix of both fuels.

In this section, the profit structure of multi-fueled companies will be examined in a general manner. Let us assume that a given multi-fueled company is planning to have both coal-fired power plants and gas-fired power plants in the future and that it is studying the best coal/gas plant mix in order to achieve the expected maximum profit.

Thus, for example, when the company expects a future carbon price probability distribution equivalent to the  $\Gamma$  profile of Figure 1 (peak carbon price \$25), the question will be what coal/gas plant mix would provide the maximum profit?

The expected profit for this multi-fueled company can be expressed by the next equation.

$$EP = a_{coal} * p_{coal} + a_{gas} * p_{gas} - (ER_{coal} * p_{coal} + ER_{gas} * p_{gas} - GF) \times ACP$$

*EP*: expected profit of the company (\$)

 $a_{coal}$ : profit per unit power output from the coal-fired plant (\$/MWh)  $a_{gas}$ : profit per unit power output from the gas-fired plant (\$/MWh)  $p_{coal}$ : Power output from coal-fired plant (MWh)  $p_{gas}$ : Power output from gas-fired plants (MWh)  $ER_{coal}$ : CO<sub>2</sub> emissions per unit power output from coal-fired plant (t-C/MWh)  $ER_{gas}$ : CO<sub>2</sub> emissions per unit power output from gas-fired plant (t-C/MWh) GF: grandfathered permits (t-C) ACP: average carbon price (\$/t-C)

If we substitute *GF* with  $b*ER_{gas}*p$  (where *p* is total power output and *b* is the ratio between grandfathered permits and total CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in the case of 100% gas-fired power production) and if we substitute, furthermore,  $p_{gas}$  with  $(p - p_{coal})$ , the above equation will be:

$$EP = a_{coal} * p_{coal} + a_{gas} * (p - p_{coal}) - (ER_{coal} * p_{coal} + ER_{gas} * (p - p_{coal}) - b * ER_{gas} * p) \times ACP$$

If we substitute  $p_{coal}/p$  with  $p^*$  and  $a_{gas}$  with  $k \cdot a_{coal}$  after dividing the above equation by the total power output, p, the company's expected profit per unit power output, ep (= EP/p) can be expressed by the following equation.

$$ep = a_{coal} * p * + k * a_{coal} * (1 - p^*) - \left[ (ER_{coal} - ER_{gas}) * p * + (1 - b) * ER_{gas} \right] * ACP$$

This equation suggests that the company's expected profit per unit power output *ep* will be a function of the percentage share of coal-fired power generation  $p^*$ , of the gas/coal operating profit ratio *k* and the average carbon price *ACP*, in other words,  $ep = f(p^*, k, ACP)$ .

The expected profit per production of the multi-fueled model company can be calculated using the above equation on the assumption that the future carbon price probability profile will correspond to the  $\Gamma$  profile with a peak of \$25 (*ACP* = \$50).

The energy price is taken as 0.75 yen/10<sup>3</sup> kcal for coal and 2.25 yen/10<sup>3</sup> kcal for gas (LNG) in the same manner as in Section 2.4.2. This implies  $a_{coal} = 17$  \$/MWh and  $a_{gas} = 5$  \$/MWh using the calculation procedures of Table 4. The assumed emission rates are  $ER_{coal} = 0.22$  t-C/MWh and  $ER_{gas} = 0.13$ t-C/MWh. Finally, allowances are assumed auctioned, that is, b = 0.

The expected profit per unit power output for this set of assumptions is shown in **Figure 10** with the coal production percentage,  $p^*$ , varying from 0% to 100% and the gas/coal operating profit ratio, k, from 0% to 100%.



Figure 10. (a) Expected Profit per Production, (b) Expected Profit per Production Contour (ACP = \$50)

Figure 10 demonstrates that for  $p^* < 1.0$  the expected profit of the company will decline with a decrease in the operating profit ratio k ( $= a_{gas}/a_{coal}$ ). When we have large proportion of gas-fueled power production, the profit downturn is relatively large compared with the case of a large proportion of coal-fueled production. In the latter case, we can reasonably expect a relatively more stable profit level the greater the share of the coal-fired power generation is. Conversely, when we have only gas-fired power plants, the expected profit will vary substantially as the operating profit ratio k changes.

If we were able to predict the range of variation of k in the future, we would be in a position to determine the optimal fuel mixture in this predicted range of k using Figure 10. However, since k is governed by the future fuel price variations, as shown in the equation below, it would be difficult for us to predict the range of k variation in the real world.

$$k = \frac{a_{gas}}{a_{coal}} = \frac{a_{gas} - \frac{860\Delta f_{gas}}{\eta_{gas}}}{a_{coal} - \frac{860\Delta f_{coal}}{\eta_{coal}}}$$
(4)

where  $a_{gas}$  and  $a_{coal}$ : future operating profit of gas and coal

 $\Delta f_{gas}$  and  $\Delta f_{coal}$ : future variation of price of gas and coal

 $\eta_{sas}$  and  $\eta_{coal}$ : energy efficiency of gas and coal

Although, for example, our calculation uses  $a_{coal} = 17$  \$/MWh and  $a_{gas} = 5$  \$/MWh by way of reference (this means that  $k = a_{gas}/a_{coal} = 5/17 = 29\%$ ), it cannot be taken for granted that this ratio will remain in this range for the scheduled lifetime of the plant. Yet we will need some clue as to the possible changes of this ratio to enable us to estimate the optimized gas/coal plant mix when we need to develop the company's future asset plan.

**Figure 11** shows the variation of *k* simulated by using the historical data for the variations of gas and coal prices during 1993-2003 and introducing the variations of the values for this period into equation (4) on a monthly basis with keeping  $a_{coal} = 17$ ,  $a_{gas} = 5$  and  $\eta_{coal} = 0.3910$ ,  $\eta_{gas} = 0.4000$ .

The simulation results make clear that the average k in this period is 23% and that the standard deviation is 35%. If it were reasonable to expect that the future variations of k would follow the same pattern as these historical variations, we would arrive at an asset mix favoring



Figure 11. Simulation for Profit Margin Ratio of Gas/Coal using Historical Data



Figure 12. Expected Profit vs. k and Coal%

coal-fired power plants, given the critical margin ratio  $k_c$  in **Figure 12**.  $k_c$  shows the critical k with 0 slope for the expected profit per unit output *ep* consistent with a coal-fired share of coal%  $p^*$  (see equations below). In this case, we have  $k_c = 74\%$ . This means that when k is smaller than 74%, 100% coal-fired power generation would provide the maximum profit and when k is larger than 74%, 100% gas-fired power generation would lead to the maximum profit.

$$\frac{\partial(ep)}{\partial(p^*)} = a_{coal} - k * a_{coal} - (ER_{coal} - ER_{gas}) * ACP = 0$$
$$k_c = 1 - \frac{(ER_{coal} - ER_{gas}) * ACP}{a_{coal}} = 1 - \frac{(0.22 - 0.13) \times 50}{17} = 0.74$$

## **4. CONCLUSIONS**

The results of this study related to a model company show that the expected profit of companies emitting  $CO_2$  on a large scale as is the case in the energy intensive industry are significantly affected by an increase in the carbon price. It can be seen that if the company responds by fuel conversion from coal to gas, for example, to mitigate the profit decline, the evolution of the gas price in the future will have a significant impact on the company's profit and so will the change in the future carbon price. This means that the relationship between fuel margins determined by relative fuel prices and the expected carbon price in the future is a key factor for the company in maintaining its profit level.

In order to examine the above relationship quantitatively, we have generalized the profit structure of a company using two fuels for power generation. The results show evidence that the benefits of fuel conversion might be compromised or lost when the operating profit for fuels with a lower carbon emissions fuel is below a certain critical level of the operating profit for a fuel with a higher carbon emission level. This is because, a reduction in the operating profit can cancel out, in certain cases, the benefit of the reduction in the payable carbon emissions brought about by the change of fuel.

Applying the above relationship to multi-fueled companies that have coal and gas plants, it can be seen that the company's expected profit per unit power output will vary with percentage share of coal-fueled generation and the gas/coal operating profit ratio as well as the average carbon price. Using the predicted range of the future gas/coal operating profit ratio, we can determine the optimized asset plan for such multi-fueled companies.

However, further study on future gas and coal price variation is needed, since it is difficult but very important to predict the range of the gas/coal operating profit ratio in the future in order to develop appropriate asset plans for the companies concerned.

## **5. REFERENCES**

- Ellerman, A. Denny, and Natsuki Tsukada. CO<sub>2</sub> Abatement by Multi-fueled Electric Utilities: An Analysis Based on Japanese Data. MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change *Report No.* 76, July 2001
- [2] http://mext-atm.jst.go.jp/atomica/owa/fig?opt=1&term\_no=01-04-01-03&fig\_path=/images/01/01-04-01-03/01.gif
- [3] http://www.iae.or.jp/energyinfo/energydata/data5007.html
- [4] Ellerman, A. Denny, and Annelene Decaux. Analysis of Post-Kyoto CO<sub>2</sub> Emissions Trading Using Marginal Abatement Curves. MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change Report No. 40, October 1998
- [5] Webster, Mort D., Mustafa H. Babiker, Monika Mayer, John M. Reilly, Jochen Harnisch, Robert Hyman, Marcus C. Sarofim and Chien Wang. Uncertainty in Emissions Projections for Climate Models. *Atmospheric Environment*, 36(22): 3659-3670, 2002
- [6] Babiker, Mustafa H., Henry D. Jacoby, John M. Reilly and David M. Reiner. The Evolution of a Climate Regime: Kyoto to Marrakech. *Environmental Science and Policy*, **5**(3): 195-206, 2002
- [7] Webster, Mort D., Chris Forest, John M. Reilly, Mustafa H. Babiker, David W. Kicklighter, Monika Mayer, Ronald G. Prinn, Marcus Sarofim, Andrei P. Sokolov, Peter H. Stone and Chien Wang. Uncertainty Analysis of Climate Change and Policy Response. *Climatic Change*, **61**(3): 295-430, 2003

## Acknowledgement

The author is deeply indebted to Denny Ellerman, who provided excellent ideas and comments during discussions on this paper. (Ellerman is executive director of the Joint Program and senior lecturer of the Sloan School of Management at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology.)

## REPORT SERIES of the MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change

1. Uncertainty in Climate Change Policy Analysis Jacoby & Prinn December 1994

2. Description and Validation of the MIT Version of the GISS 2D Model Sokolov & Stone June 1995

3. Responses of Primary Production & C Storage to Changes in Climate and Atm. CO<sub>2</sub> Concentration Xiao et al. Oct 1995

- 4. Application of the Probabilistic Collocation Method for an Uncertainty Analysis Webster et al. January 1996
- 5. World Energy Consumption and CO<sub>2</sub> Emissions: 1950-2050 Schmalensee et al. April 1996
- 6. The MIT Emission Prediction and Policy Analysis (EPPA) Model Yang et al. May 1996
- 7. Integrated Global System Model for Climate Policy Analysis Prinn et al. June 1996 (superseded by No. 36)
- 8. Relative Roles of Changes in CO<sub>2</sub> & Climate to Equilibrium Responses of NPP & Carbon Storage Xiao et al. June 1996
- 9. CO<sub>2</sub> Emissions Limits: Economic Adjustments and the Distribution of Burdens Jacoby et al. July 1997
- 10. Modeling the Emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O & CH<sub>4</sub> from the Terrestrial Biosphere to the Atmosphere Liu August 1996
- 11. Global Warming Projections: Sensitivity to Deep Ocean Mixing Sokolov & Stone September 1996
- 12. Net Primary Production of Ecosystems in China and its Equilibrium Responses to Climate Changes Xiao et al. Nov 1996
- 13. Greenhouse Policy Architectures and Institutions Schmalensee November 1996
- 14. What Does Stabilizing Greenhouse Gas Concentrations Mean? Jacoby et al. November 1996

15. Economic Assessment of CO<sub>2</sub> Capture and Disposal Eckaus et al. December 1996

- 16. What Drives Deforestation in the Brazilian Amazon? Pfaff December 1996
- 17. A Flexible Climate Model For Use In Integrated Assessments Sokolov & Stone March 1997
- 18. Transient Climate Change & Potential Croplands of the World in the 21st Century Xiao et al. May 1997
- 19. Joint Implementation: Lessons from Title IV's Voluntary Compliance Programs Atkeson June 1997
- 20. Parameterization of Urban Sub-grid Scale Processes in Global Atmospheric Chemistry Models Calbo et al. July 1997
- 21. Needed: A Realistic Strategy for Global Warming Jacoby, Prinn & Schmalensee August 1997
- 22. Same Science, Differing Policies; The Saga of Global Climate Change Skolnikoff August 1997
- 23. Uncertainty in the Oceanic Heat and Carbon Uptake & their Impact on Climate Projections Sokolov et al. Sept 1997
- 24. A Global Interactive Chemistry and Climate Model Wang, Prinn & Sokolov September 1997
- 25. Interactions Among Emissions, Atmospheric Chemistry and Climate Change Wang & Prinn September 1997
- 26. Necessary Conditions for Stabilization Agreements Yang & Jacoby October 1997
- 27. Annex I Differentiation Proposals: Implications for Welfare, Equity and Policy Reiner & Jacoby October 1997
- 28. Transient Climate Change & Net Ecosystem Production of the Terrestrial Biosphere Xiao et al. November 1997
- 29. Analysis of CO<sub>2</sub> Emissions from Fossil Fuel in Korea: 1961–1994 Choi November 1997
- 30. Uncertainty in Future Carbon Emissions: A Preliminary Exploration Webster November 1997
- 31. Beyond Emissions Paths: Rethinking the Climate Impacts of Emissions Protocols Webster & Reiner November 1997
- 32. Kyoto's Unfinished Business Jacoby, Prinn & Schmalensee June 1998
- 33. Economic Development and the Structure of the Demand for Commercial Energy Judson et al. April 1998
- 34. Combined Effects of Anthropogenic Emissions & Resultant Climatic Changes on Atmosph. OH Wang & Prinn April 1998
- **35**. Impact of Emissions, Chemistry, and Climate on Atmospheric Carbon Monoxide *Wang & Prinn* April 1998
- 36. Integrated Global System Model for Climate Policy Assessment: Feedbacks and Sensitivity Studies Prinn et al. June 1998
- 37. Quantifying the Uncertainty in Climate Predictions Webster & Sokolov July 1998
- 38. Sequential Climate Decisions Under Uncertainty: An Integrated Framework Valverde et al. September 1998
- 39. Uncertainty in Atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> (Ocean Carbon Cycle Model Analysis) Holian October 1998 (superseded by No. 80)
- 40. Analysis of Post-Kyoto CO<sub>2</sub> Emissions Trading Using Marginal Abatement Curves Ellerman & Decaux October 1998
- 41. The Effects on Developing Countries of the Kyoto Protocol & CO<sub>2</sub> Emissions Trading Ellerman et al. November 1998
- 42. Obstacles to Global CO<sub>2</sub> Trading: A Familiar Problem Ellerman November 1998
- 43. The Uses and Misuses of Technology Development as a Component of Climate Policy Jacoby November 1998
- 44. Primary Aluminum Production: Climate Policy, Emissions and Costs Harnisch et al. December 1998
- 45. Multi-Gas Assessment of the Kyoto Protocol Reilly et al. January 1999
- 46. From Science to Policy: The Science-Related Politics of Climate Change Policy in the U.S. Skolnikoff January 1999
- 47. Constraining Uncertainties in Climate Models Using Climate Change Detection Techniques Forest et al. April 1999
- 48. Adjusting to Policy Expectations in Climate Change Modeling Shackley et al. May 1999
- 49. Toward a Useful Architecture for Climate Change Negotiations Jacoby et al. May 1999
- 50. A Study of the Effects of Natural Fertility, Weather & Productive Inputs in Chinese Agriculture Eckaus & Tso July 1999
- 51. Japanese Nuclear Power and the Kyoto Agreement Babiker, Reilly & Ellerman August 1999
- 52. Interactive Chemistry and Climate Models in Global Change Studies Wang & Prinn September 1999
- 53. Developing Country Effects of Kyoto-Type Emissions Restrictions Babiker & Jacoby October 1999
- 54. Model Estimates of the Mass Balance of the Greenland and Antarctic Ice Sheets Bugnion October 1999
- 55. Changes in Sea-Level Associated with Modifications of Ice Sheets over 21st Century Bugnion October 1999
- 56. The Kyoto Protocol and Developing Countries Babiker, Reilly & Jacoby October 1999
- 57. Can EPA Regulate GHGs Before the Senate Ratifies the Kyoto Protocol? Bugnion & Reiner November 1999
- 58. Multiple Gas Control Under the Kyoto Agreement Reilly, Mayer & Harnisch March 2000

## REPORT SERIES of the MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change

- 59. Supplementarity: An Invitation for Monopsony? Ellerman & Sue Wing April 2000
- 60. A Coupled Atmosphere-Ocean Model of Intermediate Complexity Kamenkovich et al. May 2000
- 61. Effects of Differentiating Climate Policy by Sector: A U.S. Example Babiker et al. May 2000
- 62. Constraining Climate Model Properties Using Optimal Fingerprint Detection Methods Forest et al. May 2000
- 63. Linking Local Air Pollution to Global Chemistry and Climate Mayer et al. June 2000
- 64. The Effects of Changing Consumption Patterns on the Costs of Emission Restrictions Lahiri et al. August 2000
- 65. Rethinking the Kyoto Emissions Targets Babiker & Eckaus August 2000
- 66. Fair Trade and Harmonization of Climate Change Policies in Europe Viguier September 2000
- 67. The Curious Role of "Learning" in Climate Policy: Should We Wait for More Data? Webster October 2000
- 68. How to Think About Human Influence on Climate Forest, Stone & Jacoby October 2000
- 69. Tradable Permits for GHG Emissions: A primer with reference to Europe Ellerman November 2000
- 70. Carbon Emissions and The Kyoto Commitment in the European Union Viguier et al. February 2001
- 71. The MIT Emissions Prediction and Policy Analysis Model: Revisions, Sensitivities and Results Babiker et al. Feb 2001
- 72. Cap and Trade Policies in the Presence of Monopoly and Distortionary Taxation Fullerton & Metcalf March 2001
- 73. Uncertainty Analysis of Global Climate Change Projections Webster et al. March 2001 (superseded by No. 95)
- 74. The Welfare Costs of Hybrid Carbon Policies in the European Union Babiker et al. June 2001
- 75. Feedbacks Affecting the Response of the Thermohaline Circulation to Increasing CO<sub>2</sub> Kamenkovich et al. July 2001
- 76. CO<sub>2</sub> Abatement by Multi-fueled Electric Utilities: An Analysis Based on Japanese Data Ellerman & Tsukada July 2001
- 77. Comparing Greenhouse Gases Reilly, Babiker & Mayer July 2001
- 78. Quantifying Uncertainties in Climate System Properties using Recent Climate Observations Forest et al. July 2001
- 79. Uncertainty in Emissions Projections for Climate Models Webster et al. August 2001
- 80. Uncertainty in Atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> Predictions from a Global Ocean Carbon Cycle Model Holian et al. Sep 2001
- 81. A Comparison of the Behavior of AO GCMs in Transient Climate Change Experiments Sokolov et al. December 2001
- 82. The Evolution of a Climate Regime: Kyoto to Marrakech Babiker, Jacoby & Reiner February 2002
- 83. The "Safety Valve" and Climate Policy Jacoby & Ellerman February 2002
- 84. A Modeling Study on the Climate Impacts of Black Carbon Aerosols Wang March 2002
- 85. Tax Distortions and Global Climate Policy Babiker, Metcalf & Reilly May 2002
- 86. Incentive-based Approaches for Mitigating GHG Emissions: Issues and Prospects for India Gupta June 2002
- 87. Sensitivities of Deep-Ocean Heat Uptake and Heat Content to Surface Fluxes and Subgrid-Scale Parameters in an Ocean GCM with Idealized Geometry *Huang, Stone & Hill* September 2002
- 88. The Deep-Ocean Heat Uptake in Transient Climate Change Huang et al. September 2002
- 89. Representing Energy Technologies in Top-down Economic Models using Bottom-up Info McFarland et al. Oct 2002
- 90. Ozone Effects on NPP and C Sequestration in the U.S. Using a Biogeochemistry Model Felzer et al. November 2002
- 91. Exclusionary Manipulation of Carbon Permit Markets: A Laboratory Test Carlén November 2002
- 92. An Issue of Permanence: Assessing the Effectiveness of Temporary Carbon Storage Herzog et al. December 2002
- 93. Is International Emissions Trading Always Beneficial? Babiker et al. December 2002
- 94. Modeling Non-CO<sub>2</sub> Greenhouse Gas Abatement Hyman et al. December 2002
- 95. Uncertainty Analysis of Climate Change and Policy Response Webster et al. December 2002
- 96. Market Power in International Carbon Emissions Trading: A Laboratory Test Carlén January 2003
- 97. Emissions Trading to Reduce GHG Emissions in the US: The McCain-Lieberman Proposal Paltsev et al. June 2003
- 98. Russia's Role in the Kyoto Protocol Bernard et al. June 2003
- 99. Thermohaline Circulation Stability: A Box Model Study Lucarini & Stone June 2003
- 100. Absolute vs. Intensity-Based Emissions Caps Ellerman & Sue Wing July 2003
- 101. Technology Detail in a Multi-Sector CGE Model: Transport Under Climate Policy Schafer & Jacoby July 2003
- 102. Induced Technical Change and the Cost of Climate Policy Sue Wing September 2003
- 103. Past and Future Effects of Ozone on Net Primary Production and Carbon Sequestration Using a Global Biogeochemical Model Felzer et al. October 2003 [Revised January 2004]
- 104. A Process-Based Modeling Analysis of Methane Exchanges Between Alaskan Terrestrial Ecosystems and the Atmosphere Zhuang et al. November 2003
- 105. Analysis of Strategies of Companies under Carbon Constraint: Relationship Between Profit Structure and Carbon/Fuel Price Uncertainty Hashimoto January 2004